

Animal models for human Metapneumovirus (HMPV) infections

Oliver Schildgen, Arne Simon, John Williams

▶ To cite this version:

Oliver Schildgen, Arne Simon, John Williams. Animal models for human Metapneumovirus (HMPV) infections. Veterinary Research, 2007, 38 (1), pp.117-126. 10.1051/vetres:2006051. hal-00902848

HAL Id: hal-00902848 https://hal.science/hal-00902848v1

Submitted on 11 May 2020

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

Review article

Animal models for human Metapneumovirus (HMPV) infections

Oliver SCHILDGEN^a*, Arne SIMON^b, John WILLIAMS^c*

^a Institute for Medical Microbiology and Immunology, University Hospital Bonn, Sigmund-Freud-Straße 25, 53105 Bonn, Germany

^b Children's Hospital Medical Center, University of Bonn, Adenauer Allee 119, 53105 Bonn, Germany ^c Vanderbilt University Medical Center, Department of Pediatrics, Nashville, TN, USA

(Received 29 June 2006; accepted 2 October 2006)

Abstract – Since its detection in 2001 the human Metapneumovirus (HMPV), a member of the *Paramyxoviridae* family, was observed to be a serious pathogen in human respiratory infections during childhood. Meanwhile, several animal models have been established to study the virus-host interactions and pathogenic effects. Mainly, small laboratory animals like mice and cotton rats have been used, although the usage of these two species for HMPV research is controversially discussed and contradictious results were obtained by different groups. Further trials with ferrets, hamsters and non human primates were performed revealing different success in their individual usage. In this review we present the different animal models, summarize their advantages and disadvantages, and discuss the controversial results from different studies.

human metapneumovirus / respiratory viruses / animal models

Table of contents

1.	Introduction			118
2.	Animal models for the study of HMPV infections			118
	2.1.	. Rodent models		118
		2.1.1.	Mouse model (BALB/c)	118
		2.1.2.	Cotton rat model	121
	2.2. Other small rodent models		122	
	2.3.	Primate models		123
		2.3.1.	Small nonhuman primates	123
		2.3.2.	Chimpanzees	124
3.	Conclusion			124

^{*} Corresponding authors: schildgen@mibi03.meb.uni-bonn.de, john.williams@vanderbilt.edu

1. INTRODUCTION

In 2001 van den Hoogen et al. [20] detected a new respiratory virus. It was designated as human Metapneumovirus (HMPV) and is a member of the Paramyxoviridae family. Since the detection of HMPV, numerous studies conducted worldwide have shown that HMPV is the second most commonly detected virus in children suffering from acute respiratory tract infection, following respiratory syncytial virus (RSV). Although an increasing number of studies and case reports have been published on HMPV, many questions remain unanswered regarding the host-pathogen interactions of HMPV and the impact of these interactions on the severity and clinical course of the infection. These questions may be addressed by the use of sufficient animal models.

Almost five years after the first description of the virus, several reports of animal models for HMPV have been published, but the continuously increasing body of literature makes it difficult even for experts in the field to follow recent developments. For this reason we have summarized the recent studies describing animal models for HMPV infections and discuss the advantages and disadvantages of these models.

Several animal species have been determined to be permissive for HMPV infection [1, 4, 6, 9, 10, 12, 18, 23, 27]. These models, which are described in more detail below, include small animals such as mice, cotton rats, hamsters, guinea pigs, ferrets, and primates, including chimpanzees, rhesus macaques and African green monkeys. In most of the susceptible animals HMPV replicates to high titers and induces high levels of virus-neutralizing antibodies in the serum. Although HMPV infection in most of these models does not mimic the signs of human disease, experimental animal infections appear to be extremely useful for investigation of many characteristics of HMPV infection, including pathogenesis and antiviral immunity. Thereby the establishment of animal models of HMPV infection will also facilitate studies of both innate and adaptive immune responses, the characteristics of which are not very well understood.

2. ANIMAL MODELS FOR THE STUDY OF HMPV INFECTIONS

2.1. Rodent models

2.1.1. Mouse model (BALB/c)

In a recent report [1], HMPV infection of BALB/c mice led to an appearance of signs of illness, including body weight loss, ruffled coat, huddling, and heavy breathing from day 0 to day 7 post infection (p.i.). A decrease in body weight loss coincided with virus replication in lung tissues with a biphasic growth kinetics in which peak titers occurred at days 7 (10^8 PFU/g of lung tissue) and 14 p.i. $(10^7 \text{ PFU/g of tissue})$. This unusual biphasic growth curve has not been observed for HMPV (or for that matter, RSV) in any other animal model by these or other investigators, and thus the biological significance is unclear. In addition to Alvarez et al. [1,2], Hamelin et al. [6] observed that the lung virus peaks somewhat earlier at day 5 p.i. in both BALB/c mice and cotton rats, an observation that is supported by Darniot et al. [4].

According to Alvarez et al. [1, 2], infectious HMPV could be recovered from the lung of the infected animals up to day 60, and viral RNA was present in lung tissues for \geq 180 days (following depletion of T cells in the animals). Viable virus or viral RNA was not detected in the serum, spleen, kidneys, heart, trachea, and brain tissue. Substantial HMPV-specific antibody response was detected at day 14 p.i. and reached a maximum at day 28 p.i. Lung histopathology was modest and characterized by mononuclear cell infiltration in the interstitium peaking day 4 p.i., and was associated with airway remodeling. The increased mucus production observed from day 2 was concordant with bronchial and bronchiolar infiltration. Subsequent experimental depletion of T and NK cells resulted in increased titers of HMPV in the lung, suggesting immune control of persistence.

From these results it seems that HMPV infection of BALB/c mice may be associated with lower pulmonary inflammatory responses compared to RSV infection of BALB/c mice. The studies in the BALB/c mouse have shown that primary HMPV infection elicits relatively weak innate and aberrant adaptive immune responses characterized by early (3 to 10 days p.i.) Th1-type cytokine response and late (after 7 days p.i.) Th2-type response, low levels of interferon-gamma (IFN- γ) production at all stages of infection, and delayed specific CTL response that coincides with persistent virus replication in the lung [2]. Weak interferon gamma production was also found in BALB/c mouse lung homogenates in other studies and peaked from days 5 to 7 [4–6]. Thereby, the work by Guerrero-Plata et al. [5] showed that HMPV is a stronger inducer of both alpha interferon (IFN- α) and IFN- γ responses than RSV. The variation in findings on the level of production may be explained by the viral strains used by the groups.

These responses as well as the presence of neutralizing antibodies may contribute to control HMPV replication but do not prevent the persistence of the virus in lungs. The findings showing that depletion of T cells or NK cells in infected BALB/c mice result in increased virus titers in the lungs are consistent with this hypothesis [1]. These latter data describing the inflammatory response in HMPV-infected mice [2] are consistent with the findings of a recent prospective study that demonstrated much lower levels of respiratory inflammatory cytokines in HMPV-infected infants than in those infected with RSV [11]. The authors suggested that HMPV and RSV either cause disease via different mechanisms or share a common mechanism that is distinct from innate immune activation.

The mechanisms leading to persistence of HMPV in BALB/c mice are not yet understood. Interestingly, prolonged shedding of the virus in respiratory secretions was also observed in high risk children [25], thus the observation of viral persistence in the HMPV infected mouse might be an important hint on the infection cycle also in humans. In this context, the results of a comparative analysis of the activity and regulation of IFN- α in BALB/c mice infected with HMPV or RSV are of interest [5]. In animals infected with either one of these viruses, the kinetics of IFN- α production was different. In HMPV-infected mice IFN- α remained at detectable levels between 6 h and day 5 p.i. with a peak between 12 and 24 h. In contrast, in RSVinfected mice, a peak of interferon production was observed at 24 h and production of this cytokine returned to undetectable levels by 72 h. If the mice were treated with interferon prior to infection, viral titers in the lungs were lower for HMPV than for RSV infected animals. If the animals infected by HMPV or RSV were treated 48 h p.i. with the inductor of interferon poly-ICLC, the production of IFN- α was completely suppressed. A limitation of these studies is the difference in permissiveness for viral infection in the BALB/c mice, which exhibited more than 10-fold lower replication of HMPV compared to RSV in the lungs. The persistence of HMPV and RSV in the lungs of infected mice might be attributable in part to an ability of these viruses to affect the interferon signaling pathways. It is possible that HMPV and RSV deploy different mechanisms to interfere with the production of IFN- α . For RSV such an inhibition has been linked to the effect of NS1 and NS2 viral proteins on IRF-3 [19]. For HMPV, which lacks the NS proteins, a possible mechanism of immunomodulation remains unknown.

In contrast to RSV, HMPV elicited a significantly lower inflammatory cytokine response [11]. This may indicate that the mechanisms of pathogenesis are different for both viruses. Alvarez et al. [1, 2] demonstrated that primary infection of BALB/c mice with HMPV is "associated with an indolent inflammatory response". The authors further showed, that the innate immune response was weak and accompanied by CD4⁺ T-cell trafficking to the lung and low IFN- γ expression. Later during the infection, a Th2-type IL10 expression and a delayed CTL activity evolved that coincided with persistent virus replication in the lungs of infected animals. These findings are congruent with the earlier finding by Laham et al. [11], who observed an attenuated inflammatory response in infected children. In their interesting study on the persistence of HMPV in mice, Hamelin et al. [7] found that the persisting viral HMPV RNA was accompanied by a significant ongoing pulmonary inflammation until day 154 post infection, whereas the elevated secretion of mucus was observed only until day 12. They also found that the clinical severity, i.e. breathing difficulties, peaked at day five, whereas airway obstruction and hyperresponsiveness lasted until day 70. These latter observations along with earlier observation that HMPV may be associated to a subsequent history of asthma [13,24] in children make the mouse model an excellent tool for the study of the earlier steps of asthma history.

However, it should be noted that prolonged replication or viral persistence of either HMPV or RSV was not observed in fully immunocompetent humans but in high risk patients [25], and that this phenomenon may occur only in mice. Furthermore, the BALB/c mice infected with HMPV exhibited symptoms that included ruffled fur, huddling behavior and weight loss [4]. Thus, BALB/c mice appear to be a good model for HMPV replication, immunity and protection, but do not exhibit respiratory illness similar to that of humans and do not constitute an exact "disease" model.

Furthermore, two recent reports made use of the BALB/c mouse model for peptide vaccination studies [9] and for the study of antiviral treatment with ribavirin [8]. The results of both studies were promising as it appeared that peptide vaccination is sufficient to protect mice from infection with HMPV [9] and that it is worth to consider ribavirin – which is also active against HMPV – as an antiviral drug for treatment of severe HMPV infections [8]. Thereby the latter study [8] also investigated on the use of glucocorticoid treatment as a supplement to the ribavirin therapy.

Nevertheless, although the studies summarized above revealed BALB/c mice as a permissive host and consequently as a sufficient animal model, there is an ongoing discussion whether the mouse model is the optimal solution for future studies. The reasons for this discussion were two earlier reports from Macphail et al. [12] and Williams et al. [23] that demonstrated that mice are not permissive for HMPV, although the usefulness of the model was supported by the data of Hamelin et al. [6-8] as well as the recent observations from Darniot et al. [4] who investigated immunological response against the HMPV infection in infected BALB/c mice [4, 6–8] and cotton rats [6], respectively. It is noteworthy that Darniot et al. [4] observed HMPV replication of 10^3 pfu/g in the lungs of BALB/c mice, similar to levels detected by Williams et al. [23] and thus substantially lower than the levels of lung replication detected in BALB/c mice by Alvarez et al. [1, 2] and Hamelin et al. [6–8]. A number of factors may account for these divergent findings. Due to long inbreeding in a single laboratory, a particular BALB/c strain may be permissive for HMPV whereas in other labs it is not, although this may be a neglectable factor. A more likely reason for divergent findings regarding the levels of lung replication may be the different viral loads inoculated in mice, using titers of 10^8 TCID50 in Hamelin et al. [6] of a strain of subgroup A compared to lower titers used by MacPhail (1 × 10^6 pfu/mL) [12], Darniot et al. (3.3×10^5 pfu/mL) [4], and Williams et al. (1 × 10^5 pfu/mL) [23].

Furthermore, the sensitivity of HMPV detection methods is likely different in different studies. Another reason may be the different virus strains used in many of these studies, giving rise to the hypothesis that permissiveness of a model for HMPV replication depends on both the virus strain and the animal strain. Time point differences in the individual investigations may also have led to the controversial conclusions. However, based on the observations from Vicente et al. [21], it appears most likely that the different severity of the experimental infections is based on the different viral strains used. Vicente et al. [21] found that in infected children the clinical severity may vary between the genotype A and genotype B human metapneumovirus. Although the individual mechanism that is responsible for the disease severity in experimentally infected mice may be different, the same principle, i.e. a subtype specific illness severity, appears the most logical explanation. The resulting hypothesis that the clinical severity of the infection depends both on (hitherto unknown) viral factors and host factors is supported by the fact that Macphail et al. [12] also found cotton rats to be poorly permissive for HMPV replication, in contrast to the findings of Wyde et al. [27], Williams et al. [23], and Hamelin et al. [6–8]. Thereby, MacPhail et al. [12], Williams et al. [23], and Hamelin et al. [6-8] used virus from strain A but different isolates as inoculum for cotton rats, whereas Alvarez et al. [1,2] used an isolate from the HMPV lineage

B that is supposed to be less pathogenic in children but replicates to high titers in mice. These discrepancies may thus indeed result from yet unknown differences in virus or rodent strains used, methods of inoculation and detection or the groups' varying experience with different animal models.

2.1.2. Cotton rat model

The cotton rat model was established for the study of RSV-host interactions around 20 to 25 years ago [3, 14, 15] and since then has been widely used for the development of antivirals, vaccine research, and studies of immunity and immunopathogenesis (e.g. [14-17, 22, 26]). HMPV belongs to the same virus family as RSV and consequently several investigators have evaluated this well established model also for HMPV-host interactions. First, Wyde et al. [27] infected cotton rats with HMPV strains 26575 and 26583 from Canada (CAN98-75 (subtype B) and CAN97-83 (subtype A), respectively) and RL Bx from Gail Demmler, Texas, USA. It was observed that in general all viruses used in the study were able to replicate in rats, although significant differences in the degree of replication were detected, an observation that is in high agreement with the already mentioned observations by Vicente et al. [21] (see above paragraph).

In the infected animals the lung virus titer peaked at days 2–4 and decreased thereafter, with no virus detectable at days 10 to 14. Seroconversion was observed from day 19 p.i., but neutralizing antibody titers were dependent on the virus strain. Histological examination revealed peribronchiolar infiltration of inflammatory cells, bronchiolitis and even occasional sites of perivascular inflammation. Furthermore, thickened septal walls and numerous scattered patches of leukocytes (including PMN) were present. The histological changes were most apparent between days 7 and 10 p.i. The virus was detected in the lung at day 7 p.i. or later, but not before day 7. Surprisingly, during the infection only a rather limited number of pneumocytes could be stained with α -HMPV antibodies [27]. Instead of pneumocytes the majority of cells stained with those antibodies were leukocytes, probably due to phagocytosis of the virus or viral replication within the leukocytes. As shown by Hamelin et al. [6], during the acute phase of the infection the expression of macrophage inflammatory protein 1α , gamma interferon, and RANTES was increased and peaked around day 5.

Nevertheless, it has to be taken into account that in rodents the innate and adaptive immune responses to HMPV infection or the virus itself may behave in a total different way which may be quite unrelated to the human infection. For example, it is commonly known that interferon antagonists can have marked host range effects. Thus, a human virus might have very different effects in monkeys or chimpanzees (which more closely model the human host) as opposed to rodents.

In another study Williams et al. [23] also tested cotton rats for permissiveness for HMPV replication [23]. All animals tested exhibited reasonable levels of viral replication in nasal turbinates to 10^6 pfu/g. This study also determined that the peak of viral replication in cotton rats was on day 4 p.i. and cleared by day 10. Cotton rats exhibited bronchiolitis-like histopathology in the lungs, with peri-bronchiolar mononuclear cell infiltrates and no alveolar or perivascular disease. Viral antigen was detected by immunohistochemistry only in ciliated respiratory epithelial cells throughout the respiratory tract, and previously infected cotton rats were protected against lung virus replication on challenge with high serum neutralizing antibody titers.

Similar to previous studies of RSV in the cotton rat model, cotton rats infected with HMPV in these studies did not dis-

play any sign of an overt disease [6,23,27]. Thus, like the mouse model, the cotton rat is a model of replication, lung histopathology and protection, but not a true "disease" model. However, since the histopathology of HMPV infected cotton rat tissue strongly resembles the histopathology of monkey tissue and since the model is well established also for other paramyxoviruses (i.e. human parainfluenza virus type 3, measles virus, and RSV), the differences in the pathogenicity of the different paramyxoviruses can be easily studied in this model. It should be noted that efficacy studies of the RSV monoclonal antibody palivizumab in cotton rats provided the foundation for clinical studies of this antibody [17], which is now approved for RSV prophylaxis in high-risk infants [16]. Taking into account the most recent data of Hamelin et al. [6] that demonstrate that there are only slight differences to the BALB/c mouse model the cotton rat model will be of great use for future HMPV research.

2.2. Other small rodent models

Williams et al. [23] also tested other small animal species for permissiveness for HMPV replication, including guinea pigs, hamsters, and nine different inbred strains of mice. All animals tested exhibited reasonable levels of viral replication in nasal turbinates, ranging from 10^3 pfu/gram tissue to 10^6 pfu/g. However, the permissiveness of different species for HMPV replication in the lungs was quite variable, from none detected in guinea pigs and some mice to high levels (10^5 pfu/g) only in hamsters and cotton rats.

In an earlier investigation, Kuiken et al. [10] as well as MacPhail et al. [12] tested various animal models in order to evaluate if they support in vivo replication of HMPV. In the study of Macphail et al. [12] those authors demonstrated as well that hamsters, and additionally ferrets and green monkeys supported virus replication efficiently and produced high antibody levels.

Interestingly they found that hamsters vaccinated with subgroup A were protected from challenge with group A or B, probably giving implications for future vaccine design. The Syrian golden hamsters as well as ferrets supported HMPV replication to high titers [12] although neither fever nor any signs of illness were observed. However it appeared that both models are sufficient tools for the study of HMPV-host interactions, although it is rather likely that the mouse and cotton rat model will be used in most future studies for the reason of the availability of secondary reagents like antibodies and probes.

2.3. Primate models

2.3.1. Small nonhuman primates

During the past decades small monkeys were frequently used as primate models for human viral disease. The Dutch group that initially described HMPV is highly experienced in the use of non human primates and was also involved in the detection of and studies on the SARS coronavirus. Thus, Kuiken et al. [10] consequently infected 6 cynomolgus macaques (Macaca *fascicularis*) experimentally with HMPV. The animals were clustered into 3 groups and 2 animals of each group were euthanized at days 5, 9, or 14 respectively. Thereby a large set of parameters was investigated. It was found that viral excretion peaked at day 4 p.i. and decreased under all detection limits at day 10 p.i., an observation that is congruent to the findings from the rodent models.

The replication of HMPV was restricted to the respiratory tract and was associated with minimal to mild multifocal erosive and inflammatory changes in conducting airways. Kuiken et al. [10] observed an increased number of macrophages in alveoles, an observation that may be congruent with the assumption from Wyde et al. [27] that the clearance of the infection may be mediated by phagocytosis. In the infected macagues the viral replication was dominant in the apical surfaces of ciliated epithelial cells throughout the respiratory tract and less frequent in type 1 pneumocytes and alveolar macrophages [10]. This latter observation supports the alternative hypothesis of Wyde et al. [27] that the virus is also able to replicate in leukocytes. However, the macrophages that stained positive for viral antigen may simply have ingested debris from apoptotic or sloughed infected epithelial cells. It is not yet known whether HMPV is capable of infecting macrophages directly in vivo or in vitro.

Amongst the six infected animals, three individuals displayed a mild rhinitis that was characterized by the loss of ciliation in the epithelium, an architectural disruption, intra- and intercellular edema, transmigration of a few neutrophils, edema and infiltration with a few neutrophils in underlying submucosa. In these animals Kuiken et al. [10] also observed minimal multifocal lesions in conducting airways that were variable in size and were detectable from the larvnx to the bronchioles, as well as epithelial lesions (i.e. loss of ciliation, architectural disruption, erosion, intercellular edema, transmigration of neutrophil infiltration with a few neutrophils in underlying submucosa). Thereby the lumen of some bronchi contained few sloughed cilial epithelial cells, mixed with scant cellular debris and mucus [10], and some also contained a few alveolar macrophages, rare multinucleated giant cells and neutrophils that were accompanied by scant cellular debris and fibrin. In general the authors concluded that the pathogenesis of the HMPV infection is similar to the pathogenesis of the RSV infection at least in macaques. From their observations Kuiken et al. [10] conclude and summarize that viral replication is short-lived, polarized to the apical surface, and occurs primarily in ciliated respiratory cells.

In addition to the Rotterdam's group of Osterhaus, MacPhail et al. also investigated the use of small primates as animal models for HMPV replication. They observed only marginal replication in rhesus monkeys [12], but found that African green monkeys supported virus production. Neutralizing antibodies developed in African green monkeys to high titers, and antibodies to subgroup A also neutralized HMPV subgroup B. This interesting observation further hints that a serological correlate to the existence of genotypes may not be present. MacPhail et al. [12] concluded that rhesus macaques were not permissive for the HMPV subtypes used in their study (prototype for A: HMPV/NL/1/00; B: HMPV/NL/1/99), although the conflicting data on permissivity of animals as well as of cell cultures suggests that the permissivity depends on the viral subtypes used for inoculation as well as on the host. However, none of the models tested by MacPhail et al. mimicked signs from a human HMPV infection [12]. As discussed earlier, none of the small animals that have been shown to be permissive for HMPV exhibit bronchiolitis or pneumonia resembling human illness, and thus all of these are models of replication, lung pathology and immunity rather than true "disease" models. This does not preclude their usefulness to study mechanisms of immunity, antivirals and therapeutic interventions against HMPV, with lung replication and lung histopathology as the outcomes of interest.

2.3.2. Chimpanzees

Yet, to the best of our knowledge, there is only one report of experimental infection of chimpanzees with HMPV. Besides the results of experimental infection

of hamsters which were highly confirmative to the observations summarized above, Skiadopoulos et al. [18] presented the results of experimental infections of captive chimpanzees (Pan troglodytes). In our view, the most impressive results of the study was that out of the 31 animals ranging between 1.5 and 3 years of age 61% (n = 19) were seropositive for antibodies to HMPV, thus there were only 12 seronegative animals left that were included in the study. These surprising data indicate that chimpanzees may also be naturally infected with HMPV thus leading to the assumption that there is no species barrier between humans and chimpanzees regarding HMPV. Most important, seronegative animals displayed symptoms of respiratory illness post infection whereas the seropositive animals were protected from reinfections independent of the genotype with which they were infected. All animals shed only small amounts of virus. Thereby the shedded number of infectious virus from seropositive animals was the lowest, a finding that vice versa indicates that virus shedding may be a marker for the illness severity. This finding remarkably was neglected for diagnostic purposes since there is a rather limited number of reports on clinical studies that made use of quantitative detection of HMPV in clinical samples.

The study from Skiadopoulos et al. [18] further shows that immunization of the chimpanzees protected the animals from challenge irrespective of the subtype used thus the lack of serotypes is also supported by this study. For obvious ethical and economical reasons, the use of the chimpanzee model is rather limited, although it seems to be the only model in which "real" infection occurs.

3. CONCLUSION

In summary, a number of small animal and primate models for HMPV

have been investigated, including hamsters, African green monkeys, rhesus, cynomolgus macaques, and chimpanzees. Most of these animals were more or less permissive for HMPV replication in the respiratory tract, and were shown to be protected against challenge either with homologous or heterologous virus, suggesting that previous infection with the virus belonging to one major HMPV group (type) may confer protection against reinfection by the virus from another group (type). These findings have evident implications for HMPV vaccine research and enable future therapy studies. However, it also appears that the chimpanzee infected with HMPV represents the only "real" infection model; the small rodent models with mice and rats seem to be the tool of choice for most future preclinical studies.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by grants from the Else Kröner-Fresenius-Stiftung (Grant Number A 01/05//F 00) and the BONFOR program of the Medical Faculty of the University of Bonn (Grant number O-151.0028). We thank Sergei Viazov for critical comments on the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Alvarez R., Harrod K.S., Shieh W.J., Zaki S., Tripp R.A., Human metapneumovirus persists in BALB/c mice despite the presence of neutralizing antibodies, J. Virol. (2004) 78:14003–14011.
- [2] Alvarez R., Tripp R.A., The immune response to human metapneumovirus is associated with aberrant immunity and impaired virus clearance in BALB/c mice, J. Virol. (2005) 79:5971–5978.
- [3] Clyde W.A. Jr., Experimental models for study of common respiratory viruses, Environ. Health Perspect. (1980) 35:107– 112.
- [4] Darniot M., Petrella T., Aho S., Pothier P., Manoha C., Immune response and alteration of pulmonary function after primary

human metapneumovirus (HMPV) infection of BALB/c mice, Vaccine (2005) 23:4473– 4480.

- [5] Guerrero-Plata A., Baron S., Poast J.S., Adegboyega P.A., Casola A., Garofalo R.P., Activity and regulation of alpha interferon in respiratory syncytial virus and human metapneumovirus experimental infections, J. Virol. (2005) 79:10190–10199.
- [6] Hamelin M.E., Yim K., Kuhn K.H., Cragin R.P., Boukhvalova M., Blanco J.C., Prince G.A., Boivin G., Pathogenesis of human metapneumovirus lung infection in BALB/c mice and cotton rats, J. Virol. (2005) 79:8894–8903.
- [7] Hamelin M.E., Prince G.A., Gomez A.M., Kinkead R., Boivin G., Human metapneumovirus infection induces long-term pulmonary inflammation associated with airway obstruction and hyperresponsiveness in mice, J. Infect. Dis. (2006) 193:1634–1642.
- [8] Hamelin M.E., Prince G.A., Boivin G., Effect of ribavirin and glucocorticoid treatment in a mouse model of human metapneumovirus infection, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. (2006) 50:774–777.
- [9] Herd K.A., Mahalingam S., Mackay I.M., Nissen M., Sloots T.P., Tindle R.W., Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte epitope vaccination protects against human metapneumovirus infection and disease in mice, J. Virol. (2006) 80:2034–2044.
- [10] Kuiken T., van den Hoogen B.G., van Riel D.A., Laman J.D., van Amerongen G., Sprong L., Fouchier R.A., Osterhaus A.D., Experimental human metapneumovirus infection of cynomolgus macaques (*Macaca fascicularis*) results in virus replication in ciliated epithelial cells and pneumocytes with associated lesions throughout the respiratory tract, Am. J. Pathol. (2004) 164:1893– 1900.
- [11] Laham F.R., Israele V., Casellas J.M., Garcia A.M., Lac Prugent C.M., Hoffman S.J., Hauer D., Thumar B., Name M.I., Pascual A., Taratutto N., Ishida M.T., Balduzzi M., Maccarone M., Jackli S., Passarino R., Gaivironsky R.A., Karron R.A., Polack N.R., Polack F.P., Differential production of inflammatory cytokines in primary infection with human metapneumovirus and with other common respiratory viruses of infancy, J. Infect. Dis. (2004) 189:2047–2056.
- [12] MacPhail M., Schickli J.H., Tang R.S., Kaur J., Robinson C., Fouchier R.A.,

Osterhaus A.D., Spaete R.R., Haller A.A., Identification of small-animal and primate models for evaluation of vaccine candidates for human metapneumovirus (HMPV) and implications for HMPV vaccine design, J. Gen. Virol. (2004) 85:1655–1663.

- [13] Peiris J.S., Tang W.H., Chan K.H., Khong P.L., Guan Y., Lau Y.L., Chiu S.S., Children with respiratory disease associated with metapneumovirus in Hong Kong, Emerg. Infect. Dis. (2003) 9:628–633.
- [14] Prince G.A., Hemming V.G., Horswood R.L., Chanock R.M., Immunoprophylaxis and immunotherapy of respiratory syncytial virus infection in the cotton rat, Virus Res. (1985) 3:193–206.
- [15] Prince G.A., Horswood R.L., Chanock R.M., Quantitative aspects of passive immunity to respiratory syncytial virus infection in infant cotton rats, J. Virol. (1985) 55:517–520.
- [16] Saez-Llorens X., Castano E., Null D., Steichen J., Sanchez P.J., Ramilo O., Top F.H. Jr., Connor E., Safety and pharmacokinetics of an intramuscular humanized monoclonal antibody to respiratory syncytial virus in premature infants and infants with bronchopulmonary dysplasia, The MEDI-493 Study Group, Pediatr. Infect. Dis. J. (1998) 17:787–791.
- [17] Sami I.R., Piazza F.M., Johnson S.A., Darnell M.E., Ottolini M.G., Hemming V.G., Prince G.A., Systemic immunoprophylaxis of nasal respiratory syncytial virus infection in cotton rats, J. Infect. Dis. (1995) 171:440– 443.
- [18] Skiadopoulos M.H., Biacchesi S., Buchholz U.J., Riggs J.M., Surman S.R., Amaro-Carambot E., McAuliffe J.M., Elkins W.R., St. Claire M., Collins P.L., Murphy B.R., The two major human metapneumovirus genetic lineages are highly related antigenically, and the fusion (F) protein is a major contributor to this antigenic relatedness, J. Virol. (2004) 78:6927–6937.
- [19] Spann K.M., Tran K.C., Chi B., Rabin R.L., Collins P.L., Suppression of the induction of alpha, beta, and lambda interferons by the NS1 and NS2 proteins of human respiratory syncytial virus in human epithelial cells and macrophages, J. Virol. (2004) 78:4363– 4369.

- [20] Van den Hoogen B.G., de Jong J.C., Groen J., Kuiken T., de Groot R., Fouchier R.A., Osterhaus A.D., A newly discovered human pneumovirus isolated from young children with respiratory tract disease, Nat. Med. (2001) 7:719–724.
- [21] Vicente D., Montes M., Cilla G., Perez-Yarza E.G., Perez-Trallero E., Differences in clinical severity between genotype A and genotype B human metapneumovirus infection in children, Clin. Infect. Dis. (2006) 42:e111– e113.
- [22] Wathen M.W., Kakuk T.J., Brideau R.J., Hausknecht E.C., Cole S.L., Zaya R.M., Vaccination of cotton rats with a chimeric FG glycoprotein of human respiratory syncytial virus induces minimal pulmonary pathology on challenge, J. Infect. Dis. (1991) 163:477– 482.
- [23] Williams J.V., Tollefson S.J., Johnson J.E., Crowe J.E. Jr., The cotton rat (*Sigmodon hispidus*) is a permissive small animal model of human metapneumovirus infection, pathogenesis, and protective immunity, J. Virol. (2005) 79:10944–10951.
- [24] Williams J.V., Tollefson S.J., Heymann P.W., Carper H.T., Patrie J., Crowe J.E., Human metapneumovirus infection in children hospitalized for wheezing, J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. (2005) 115:1311–1312.
- [25] Wilkesmann A., Schildgen O., Eis-Hubinger A.M., Geikowski T., Glatzel T., Lentze M.J., Bode U., Simon A., Human metapneumovirus infections cause similar symptoms and clinical severity as respiratory syncytial virus infections, Eur. J. Pediatr. (2006) 165:467–475.
- [26] Wyde P.R., Chetty S.N., Timmerman P., Gilbert B.E., Andries K., Short duration aerosols of JNJ 2408068 (R170591) administered prophylactically or therapeutically protect cotton rats from experimental respiratory syncytial virus infection, Antiviral Res. (2003) 60:221–231.
- [27] Wyde P.R., Chetty S.N., Jewell A.M., Schoonover S.L., Piedra P.A., Development of a cotton rat-human metapneumovirus (HMPV) model for identifying and evaluating potential HMPV antivirals and vaccines, Antiviral Res. (2005) 66:57–66.